ADVANCE VERSION

Climate Change

$FCCC_{/PA/CMA/2023/16}$

Daga

Distr.: General 15 March 2024

Original: English

Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Paris Agreement

Report of the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Paris Agreement on its fifth session, held in the United Arab Emirates from 30 November to 13 December 2023

Part one: Proceedings

Contents

		1 uge
	Abbreviations and acronyms	5
I.	Opening of the session (Agenda item 1)	6
II.	Organizational matters (Agenda item 2)	6
	A. Adoption of the agenda	6
	B. Election of additional officers	8
	C. Organization of work, including for the sessions of the subsidiary bodies	8
	D. Approval of the report on credentials	9
	E. Attendance	9
	F. Documentation	9
III.	Reports of the subsidiary bodies (Agenda item 3)	10
	A. Report of the Subsidiary Body for Scientific and Technological Advice	10
	B. Report of the Subsidiary Body for Implementation	10
IV.	First global stocktake (Agenda item 4)	
V.	Work programme on just transition pathways referred to in the relevant paragraphs of decision 1/CMA.4 (Agenda item 5)	
VI.	Sharm el-Sheikh mitigation ambition and implementation work programme referred to in decision 4/CMA.4 (Agenda item 6)	11

technical support to developing country Parties for reporting and capacity-build		orting and review pursuant to Article 13 of the Paris Agreement: provision of financial and inical support to developing country Parties for reporting and capacity-building enda item 7)	
VIII.	VIII. Matters relating to adaptation (Agenda item 8)		
	A.	Glasgow–Sharm el-Sheikh work programme on the global goal on adaptation referred to in decision 7/CMA.3	
	B.	Report of the Adaptation Committee and review of the progress, effectiveness and performance of the Adaptation Committee	
IX.	Warsaw International Mechanism for Loss and Damage associated with Climate Change Impacts (Agenda item 9)		
X.	. Matters relating to finance (Agenda item 10)		
	A.	Matters relating to the Standing Committee on Finance	
	B.	Guidance to the Green Climate Fund.	
	C.	Guidance to the Global Environment Facility	
	D.	Matters relating to the Adaptation Fund	
	E.	New collective quantified goal on climate finance	
	F.	Compilation and synthesis of, and summary report on the in-session workshop on, biennial communications of information related to Article 9, paragraph 5, of the Paris Agreement	
		Operationalization of the funding arrangements for responding to loss and damage graph 2, including the fund established in paragraph 3, of and 2/CMA.4	
XI. joint annual and Network (Agenda iter	report	relopment and transfer of technologies and implementation of the Technology Mechanism: tof the Technology Executive Committee and the Climate Technology Centre 17	
XII. Capacity-building under the Paris Agreement		acity-building under the Paris Agreement enda item 12)	
XIII.		ort of the forum on the impact of the implementation of response measures enda item 13)	
XIV.	V. Matters relating to Article 6 of the Paris Agreement (Agenda item 14)		
	A.	Guidance on cooperative approaches referred to in Article 6, paragraph 2, of the Paris Agreeme and in decision 2/CMA.3	
	В.	Rules, modalities and procedures for the mechanism established by Article 6, paragraph 4, of the Paris Agreement and referred to in decision 3/CMA.3	
	C.	Work programme under the framework for non-market approaches referred to in Article 6, paragraph 8, of the Paris Agreement and in decision 4/CMA.3	
XV.	Report of the committee to facilitate implementation and promote compliance referred to in Article 15, paragraph 2, of the Paris Agreement (Agenda item 15)		
XVI.		ninistrative, financial and institutional matters enda item 16)	
XVII.	High-level segment (Agenda item 17)		

XVIII.	Other matters (Agenda item 18)	20
XIX.	Conclusion of the session (Agenda item 19)	
	A. Adoption of the draft report on the session	20
	B. Closure of the session	22

Part two: Action taken by the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Paris Agreement at its fifth session

Decisions adopted by the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Paris Agreement

FCCC/PA/CMA/2023/16/Add.1

Decision	
1/CMA.5	Outcome of the first global stocktake
2/CMA.5	Global goal on adaptation
3/CMA.5	United Arab Emirates just transition work programme
4/CMA.5	Sharm el-Sheikh mitigation ambition and implementation work programme referred to in decision $4/\text{CMA}.4$
5/CMA.5	Operationalization of the new funding arrangements, including a fund, for responding to loss and damage referred to in paragraphs 2–3 of decisions 2/CP.27 and 2/CMA.4

FCCC/PA/CMA/2023/16/Add.2

Decision	
6/CMA.5	Santiago network for averting, minimizing and addressing loss and damage associated with the adverse effects of climate change under the Warsaw International Mechanism for Loss and Damage associated with Climate Change Impacts
7/CMA.5	Report of the Executive Committee of the Warsaw International Mechanism for Loss and Damage associated with Climate Change Impacts
8/CMA.5	New collective quantified goal on climate finance
9/CMA.5	Matters relating to the Standing Committee on Finance
10/CMA.5	Guidance to the Green Climate Fund
11/CMA.5	Guidance to the Global Environment Facility
12/CMA.5	Matters relating to the Adaptation Fund
13/CMA.5	Compilation and synthesis of, and summary report on the in-session workshop on, biennial communications of information related to Article 9, paragraph 5, of the Paris Agreement
14/CMA.5	Enhancing climate technology development and transfer to support implementation of the Paris Agreement
15/CMA.5	Annual technical progress report of the Paris Committee on Capacity-building for 2023

16/CMA.5 Terms of reference for the second review of the Paris Committee on Capacity-building

FCCC/PA/CMA/2023/16/Add.3

Decision	
17/CMA.5	Work programme under the framework for non-market approaches referred to in Article 6, paragraph 8, of the Paris Agreement and in decision 4/CMA.3
18/CMA.5	Provision of financial and technical support to developing country Parties for reporting and capacity-building
19/CMA.5	Review of the functions, work programme and modalities of the forum on the impact of the implementation of response measures, midterm review of the workplan and report of the forum
20/CMA.5	Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
21/CMA.5	Presidency youth climate champion
Resolution	
1/CMA.5	Expression of gratitude to the Government of the United Arab Emirates

Abbreviations and acronyms

CMA Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Paris

Agreement

CMP Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto

Protocol

COP Conference of the Parties

SB sessions of the subsidiary bodies
SBI Subsidiary Body for Implementation

SBSTA Subsidiary Body for Scientific and Technological Advice

SCF Standing Committee on Finance

Transitional Committee transitional committee on the operationalization of the new funding

arrangements for responding to loss and damage and the fund established in

paragraph 3 of decisions 2/CP.27 and 2/CMA.4

WIM Warsaw International Mechanism for Loss and Damage associated with

Climate Change Impacts

I. Opening of the session

(Agenda item 1)

1. CMA 5, convened pursuant to Article 16, paragraph 6, of the Paris Agreement, was held at Expo City Dubai in Dubai, United Arab Emirates, from 30 November to 13 December 2023. Sultan Ahmed Al Jaber (United Arab Emirates), President of CMA 5, opened the session.

II. Organizational matters

(Agenda item 2)

A. Adoption of the agenda

(Agenda sub-item 2(a))

- 2. At its 1st meeting,² on 30 November, the CMA considered document FCCC/PA/CMA/2023/1/Add.3 containing the supplementary provisional agenda. The President recalled the understanding reached among Parties on the adoption of the agendas for the sessions of the governing and subsidiary bodies, as outlined at the 1st meeting of COP 28.³
- 3. The President proposed that the supplementary provisional agenda for CMA 5 be amended to reflect this understanding, with sub-items 10(h-i) and items 16 and 19–23 deleted.
- 4. On the proposal by the President, the CMA adopted the agenda as follows:
 - 1. Opening of the session.
 - 2. Organizational matters:
 - (a) Adoption of the agenda;
 - (b) Election of additional officers;
 - (c) Organization of work, including for the sessions of the subsidiary bodies;
 - (d) Approval of the report on credentials.
 - 3. Reports of the subsidiary bodies:
 - (a) Report of the Subsidiary Body for Scientific and Technological Advice;
 - (b) Report of the Subsidiary Body for Implementation.
 - 4. First global stocktake.
 - 5. Work programme on just transition pathways referred to in the relevant paragraphs of decision 1/CMA.4.
 - 6. Sharm el-Sheikh mitigation ambition and implementation work programme referred to in decision 4/CMA.4.
 - 7. Reporting and review pursuant to Article 13 of the Paris Agreement: provision of financial and technical support to developing country Parties for reporting and capacity-building.
 - 8. Matters relating to adaptation:

-

¹ CMA 5 was held in conjunction with COP 28 and CMP 18. The proceedings of the COP and the CMP are contained in documents FCCC/CP/2023/11 and FCCC/KP/CMP/2023/8 respectively. The proceedings of the joint meetings of the COP, the CMP and the CMA convened at the sessions are contained in the report of the COP and cross-referenced in the reports of the CMP and the CMA.

² Meetings of the governing and subsidiary bodies referred to in this report are plenary meetings.

³ See document FCCC/CP/2023/11, paras. 7–10.

- (a) Glasgow–Sharm el-Sheikh work programme on the global goal on adaptation referred to in decision 7/CMA.3;
- (b) Report of the Adaptation Committee and review of the progress, effectiveness and performance of the Adaptation Committee.
- 9. Warsaw International Mechanism for Loss and Damage associated with Climate Change Impacts.⁴
- 10. Matters relating to finance:
 - (a) Matters relating to the Standing Committee on Finance;
 - (b) Guidance to the Green Climate Fund;
 - (c) Guidance to the Global Environment Facility;
 - (d) Matters relating to the Adaptation Fund;
 - (e) New collective quantified goal on climate finance;
 - (f) Compilation and synthesis of, and summary report on the in-session workshop on, biennial communications of information related to Article 9, paragraph 5, of the Paris Agreement;
 - (g) Operationalization of the funding arrangements for responding to loss and damage referred to in paragraph 2, including the fund established in paragraph 3, of decisions 2/CP.27 and 2/CMA.4.
- 11. Development and transfer of technologies and implementation of the Technology Mechanism: joint annual report of the Technology Executive Committee and the Climate Technology Centre and Network.
- 12. Capacity-building under the Paris Agreement.
- 13. Report of the forum on the impact of the implementation of response measures.
- 14. Matters relating to Article 6 of the Paris Agreement:
 - (a) Guidance on cooperative approaches referred to in Article 6, paragraph 2, of the Paris Agreement and in decision 2/CMA.3;
 - (b) Rules, modalities and procedures for the mechanism established by Article 6, paragraph 4, of the Paris Agreement and referred to in decision 3/CMA.3;
 - (c) Work programme under the framework for non-market approaches referred to in Article 6, paragraph 8, of the Paris Agreement and in decision 4/CMA.3.
- 15. Report of the committee to facilitate implementation and promote compliance referred to in Article 15, paragraph 2, of the Paris Agreement.
- 16. Administrative, financial and institutional matters.
- 17. High-level segment:
 - (a) Statements by Parties;
 - (b) Statements by observer organizations.
- 18. Other matters.
- 19. Conclusion of the session:
 - (a) Adoption of the draft report on the session;
 - (b) Closure of the session.

⁴ Neither the inclusion of this item in the agenda nor the annotations to it prejudge outcomes on matters related to the governance of the WIM.

B. Election of additional officers

(Agenda sub-item 2(b))

- 5. At the 1st meeting, the President informed the CMA that, as stated during the 1st meetings of COP 28 and CMP 18, Mohamed Nasr (Egypt) had begun consultations on the election of officers to bodies under the Convention, the Kyoto Protocol and the Paris Agreement.
- 6. The President invited regional groups and constituencies to submit all outstanding nominations by 9 December 2023. On a proposal by the President, the CMA decided to postpone the election until the closing plenary of CMA 5.
- 7. At the 6th meeting, on 13 December, the President informed the CMA that, since all nominees for the Bureau of COP 28 were also from Parties to the Paris Agreement, it would not be necessary to elect an additional member of the Bureau at the election taking place at the closing plenary of COP 28.⁵
- 8. The President also informed the CMA that nominations for election of officers to bodies under the Paris Agreement were outstanding and urged regional groups and constituencies to continue consultations and submit the outstanding nominations to the secretariat as soon as possible and by 29 February 2024 at the latest. On a proposal by the President, the CMA agreed that, once the outstanding nominations had been received by the secretariat, the nominees would be deemed elected at CMA 5 in accordance with established practice.

C. Organization of work, including for the sessions of the subsidiary bodies

(Agenda sub-item 2(c))

- 9. At its 1st meeting, on a proposal by the President, the CMA agreed to follow the organization of work agreed at the 1st meeting of COP 28.⁶
- 10. The President informed the CMA that the secretariat had prepared an update of the synthesis report on nationally determined contributions⁷ and a synthesis report on long-term low-emission development strategies.⁸
- 11. The joint 2nd meeting of COP 28, CMP 18, CMA 5, SBSTA 59 and SBI 59, on 30 November, was convened to hear opening statements.⁹
- 12. At the joint 3rd meeting of COP 28, CMP 18 and CMA 5, on 1 December, the joint high-level segment was opened by the President. The first part of the high-level segment continued on 2 December, while the second part was held on 9 December.¹⁰
- 13. At the 6th meeting, the President recalled that, at the 1st meeting, as part of the understanding reached among Parties on the adoption of agendas referred to in paragraph 2 above, he had proposed to conduct consultations on the way forward regarding the following matters not to be included in the CMA agenda:
- (a) "Special needs and special circumstances of Africa": 11 the consultations were conducted by Federica Fricano (Italy) on 5 and 10 December. The outcomes of the consultations are reported under agenda item 18, "Other matters" (see para. 107 below);
- (b) "Seventh review of the Financial Mechanism": 12 throughout the consultations, which were conducted by Tosi Mpanu Mpanu (Democratic Republic of the Congo), Parties

⁵ See document FCCC/CP/2023/11, para. 18.

⁶ See document FCCC/CP/2023/11, paras. 22–31.

⁷ FCCC/PA/CMA/2023/12, in response to decisions 1/CMA.2, para. 10, and 1/CMA.3, para. 30.

⁸ FCCC/PA/CMA/2023/10, in response to decision 1/CMA.4, para. 26.

⁹ See document FCCC/CP/2023/11, paras. 32–33.

 $^{^{10}\,\,}$ See document FCCC/CP/2023/11, paras. 123–128.

¹¹ See document FCCC/CP/2023/11, para. 9(a).

¹² See document FCCC/CP/2023/11, para. 9(b).

shared views on the matter, thus facilitating a comprehensive understanding of their positions. Despite such constructive exchanges, no consensus could be reached on the way forward.

- 14. At the same meeting, the President informed the CMA that consultations on building opportunities for facilitating the stronger inclusion and engagement of youth in climate action and the UNFCCC process¹³ had been conducted by Fatima Al Hallami (United Arab Emirates) and Wedad Al Hassan (United Arab Emirates).
- 15. On a proposal by the President, the CMA adopted decision 21/CMA.5, entitled "Presidency youth climate champion".
- 16. In addition, the President proposed that the following decisions be known as the United Arab Emirates Consensus:
 - (a) Decision 1/CMA.5, entitled "Outcome of the first global stocktake";
 - (b) Decision 2/CMA.5, entitled "Global goal on adaptation";
- (c) Decision 3/CMA.5, entitled "United Arab Emirates just transition work programme";
- (d) Decision 4/CMA.5, entitled "Sharm el-Sheikh mitigation ambition and implementation work programme referred to in decision 4/CMA.4";
- (e) Decisions 5/CMA.5 and 1/CP.28, entitled "Operationalization of the funding arrangements, including a fund, for responding to loss and damage referred to in paragraphs 2–3 of decisions 2/CP.27 and 2/CMA.4";¹⁴
- (f) Decisions 21/CMA.5 and 16/CP.28, entitled "Presidency youth climate champion". $^{\rm 15}$

D. Approval of the report on credentials

(Agenda sub-item 2(d))

- 17. At the 5th meeting, on 11 December, the President referred to the report on credentials, ¹⁶ submitted by the Bureau in accordance with rule 20 of the draft rules of procedure being applied.
- 18. On the basis of the report of the Bureau, the CMA accepted the credentials of Parties attending the session. In addition, the secretariat received credentials from South Sudan on 15 December 2023 and Colombia on 7 March 2024.

E. Attendance

- 19. Information on participation in the sessions in the United Arab Emirates is available in document FCCC/CP/2023/INF.3/Rev.1.
- 20. According to decision 2/CMA.1, the admission of organizations as observers as decided by the COP also applies to the CMA.¹⁷

F. Documentation

21. The documents that were before CMA 5 are available on the UNFCCC website. 18

¹³ See document FCCC/CP/2023/11, paras. 34–36.

¹⁴ The equally titled decision 1/CP.28 was adopted by the COP.

¹⁵ The equally titled decision 16/CP.28 was adopted by the COP.

¹⁶ FCCC/CP/2023/10–FCCC/KP/CMP/2023/8–FCCC/PA/CMA/2023/14.

¹⁷ For the list of organizations admitted as observers, see document FCCC/CP/2023/3.

¹⁸ https://unfccc.int/event/cma-5.

III. Reports of the subsidiary bodies

(Agenda item 3)

A. Report of the Subsidiary Body for Scientific and Technological Advice

(Agenda sub-item 3(a))

- 22. At the 4th meeting, on 8 December, the SBSTA Chair, Harry Vreuls (Kingdom of the Netherlands), introduced the draft report on SBSTA 59¹⁹ and gave an oral report on the results of SBSTA 58 and 59.²⁰
- 23. On a proposal by the President, the CMA took note of the report on SBSTA 58,²¹ the draft report on SBSTA 59 and the oral report by the SBSTA Chair. The President expressed his deep appreciation to the SBSTA Chair for his leadership and dedication in guiding the work of the SBSTA and for supporting the Presidency in ensuring the effective management of work under the subsidiary bodies and its smooth transition to the governing bodies.
- 24. At its 5th meeting, on a recommendation of the SBSTA,²² the CMA adopted decision 20/CMA.5, entitled "Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change".
- 25. The President noted that other recommendations of the SBSTA would be addressed under the relevant agenda items.

B. Report of the Subsidiary Body for Implementation

(Agenda sub-item 3(b))

- 26. At the 4th meeting, the SBI Chair, Nabeel Munir (Pakistan), introduced the draft report on SBI 59²³ and gave an oral report on the results of SBI 58 and 59.²⁴
- 27. On a proposal by the President, the CMA took note of the report on SBI 58,²⁵ the draft report on SBI 59 and the oral report by the SBI Chair. The President expressed his deep appreciation to the SBI Chair for his leadership and dedication in guiding the work of the SBI and for supporting the Presidency in ensuring the effective management of work under the subsidiary bodies and its smooth transition to the governing bodies.
- 28. The President noted that recommendations of the SBI would be addressed under the relevant agenda items.

IV. First global stocktake

(Agenda item 4)

- 29. At its 1st meeting, the CMA noted that this matter was on the agendas of the SBSTA and the SBI.²⁶
- 30. At its 4th meeting, the President recalled that the subsidiary bodies had forwarded this matter to the CMA for further consideration.²⁷ The CMA agreed to further consider this matter.

¹⁹ FCCC/SBSTA/2023/L.9.

The oral report can be heard at https://unfccc.int/event/plenary-meeting-of-the-cop/cmp/cma (starting at 0:04:04).

²¹ FCCC/SBSTA/2023/4 and Add.1.

²² FCCC/SBSTA/2023/4, para. 55.

²³ FCCC/SBI/2023/L.13.

²⁴ As footnote 20 above (starting at 0:09:49).

²⁵ FCCC/SBI/2023/10 and Add.1 and Corr.1.

²⁶ SBSTA 59 agenda item 5 and SBI agenda item 8, "Matters relating to the global stocktake under the Paris Agreement".

²⁷ See documents FCCC/SBSTA/2023/8, para. 23, and FCCC/SBI/2023/21, para. 46.

- 31. The President invited Barbara Creecy (South Africa) and Dan Jørgensen (Denmark) to undertake ministerial consultations on cross-cutting issues relating to the global stocktake. In addition, the President requested the co-chairs of the subsidiary bodies joint contact group, Alison Campbell (United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland) and Joseph Teo (Singapore), to prepare a third iteration of the textual building blocks on the global stocktake taking into account Parties' views and submissions on the second iteration.
- 32. Subsequently, also on 8 December, a meeting of heads of delegation was held to hear Parties' views on the third iteration of the textual building blocks.
- 33. At the 6th meeting, the President informed the CMA that, building on the work of the co-chairs of the subsidiary bodies joint contact group and ministers, extensive consultations had been conducted by the Presidency on the draft decision on this matter. The President expressed his sincere gratitude to all Parties for their engagement and guidance in this regard.
- 34. On a proposal by the President, the CMA adopted decision 1/CMA.5, entitled "Outcomes of the first global stocktake".
- 35. Subsequently, the President²⁸ and the UNFCCC Executive Secretary²⁹ made closing statements. In addition, statements were made by representatives of Parties and groups of Parties.^{30,31,32}

V. Work programme on just transition pathways referred to in the relevant paragraphs of decision 1/CMA.4

(Agenda item 5)

- 36. At its 1st meeting, the CMA noted that this matter was on the agendas of the SBSTA and the SBI.³³
- 37. At its 4th meeting, the President recalled that the subsidiary bodies had forwarded this matter to the CMA for further consideration.³⁴ The CMA agreed to further consider this matter. The President invited Simon Cardy (South Africa) and Marianne Karlsen (Norway) to undertake consultations on his behalf.
- 38. At its 6th meeting, on a proposal by the President, the CMA adopted decision 3/CMA.5, entitled "United Arab Emirates just transition work programme".

VI. Sharm el-Sheikh mitigation ambition and implementation work programme referred to in decision 4/CMA.4

(Agenda item 6)

39. At its 1st meeting, the CMA noted that this matter was on the agendas of the SBSTA and the SBI.³⁵

²⁸ The statement can be heard at https://unfccc.int/event/6th-meeting-of-the-cop-6th-meeting-of-the-cop-6th-meeting-of-the-cmp-6th-meeting-of-the-

²⁹ As footnote 28 above (starting at 0:20:55).

³⁰ See document FCCC/CP/2023/11, paras. 134–136.

Samoa, speaking on behalf of the Alliance of Small Island States, requested that its statement, available at https://unfccc.int/event/6th-meeting-of-the-cop-6th-meeting-of-the-cmp-6th-meeting-of-the-cma (starting at 0:32:58), be reflected in the report on the session.

The Plurinational State of Bolivia requested that its statement, available at https://unfccc.int/event/6th-meeting-of-the-cop-6th-meeting-of-the-cma (starting at 1:01:55), be reflected in the report on the session.

³³ SBSTA 59 agenda item 8 and SBI 59 agenda item 9, "Work programme on just transition pathways referred to in the relevant paragraphs of decision 1/CMA.4".

³⁴ See documents FCCC/SBSTA/2023/8, para. 40, and FCCC/SBI/2023/21, para. 50.

³⁵ SBSTA 59 agenda item 7 and SBI 59 agenda item 7, "Sharm el-Sheikh mitigation ambition and implementation work programme referred to in decision 4/CMA.4".

- 40. At its 4th meeting, the President recalled that the subsidiary bodies had forwarded this matter to the CMA for further consideration.³⁶ The CMA agreed to further consider this matter. The President requested Carlos Fuller (Belize) and Kay Harrison (New Zealand) to undertake consultations on his behalf. In addition, the President invited Espen Barth Eide (Norway) and Grace Fu (Singapore) to conduct ministerial consultations on issues related to mitigation.
- 41. At its 6th meeting, on a proposal of the President, the CMA adopted decision 4/CMA.5, entitled "Sharm el-Sheikh mitigation ambition and implementation work programme referred to in decision 4/CMA.4".

VII. Reporting and review pursuant to Article 13 of the Paris Agreement: provision of financial and technical support to developing country Parties for reporting and capacity-building

(Agenda item 7)

- 42. At its 1st meeting, the CMA noted that this matter was on the agenda of the SBI.³⁷
- 43. At its 4th meeting, the President recalled that the SBI had forwarded this matter to the CMA for further consideration.³⁸ The CMA agreed to further consider this matter. The President requested Julia Gardiner (Australia) and Sandra Motshwanedi (South Africa) to undertake consultations on his behalf.
- 44. At its 5th meeting, on a proposal by the President, the CMA adopted decision 18/CMA.5, entitled "Provision of financial and technical support to developing country Parties for reporting and capacity-building".

VIII. Matters relating to adaptation

(Agenda item 8)

A. Glasgow–Sharm el-Sheikh work programme on the global goal on adaptation referred to in decision 7/CMA.3

(Agenda sub-item 8(a))

- 45. At its 1st meeting, the CMA noted that this matter was on the agendas of the SBSTA and the SBI.³⁹
- 46. At its 4th meeting, the President recalled that the subsidiary bodies had forwarded this matter to the CMA for further consideration.⁴⁰ The CMA agreed to further consider this matter with a view to finalizing and adopting the framework referred to in paragraph 8 of decision 3/CMA.4. The President invited Jennifer McAllister (Australia) and Maisa Rojas (Chile) to conduct ministerial consultations on issues relating to adaptation. In addition, he requested the SBSTA and SBI Chairs to undertake consultations on his behalf on specific issues relating to the global goal on adaptation.
- 47. At its 6th meeting, on a proposal by the President, the CMA adopted decision 2/CMA.5, entitled "Global goal on adaptation".

³⁶ See documents FCCC/SBSTA/2023/8, para. 37, and FCCC/SBI/2023/21, para. 43.

SBI 59 agenda item 5, "Reporting and review pursuant to Article 13 of the Paris Agreement: provision of financial and technical support to developing country Parties for reporting and capacity-building".

³⁸ See document FCCC/SBI/2023/21, para. 37.

³⁹ SBSTA 59 agenda sub-item 3(a) and SBI 59 agenda sub-item 12(a), "Glasgow–Sharm el-Sheikh work programme on the global goal on adaptation referred to in decision 7/CMA.3".

⁴⁰ See documents FCCC/SBSTA/2023/8, para. 14, and FCCC/SBI/2023/21, para. 59.

48. The President proposed that the framework referred to in decision 2/CMA.5 be known as the United Arab Emirates Framework for Global Climate Resilience and the work programme referred to in the same decision be named the United Arab Emirates—Belém work programme on indicators for measuring progress achieved towards the targets referred to in paragraphs 9–10 of decision 2/CMA.5.

B. Report of the Adaptation Committee and review of the progress, effectiveness and performance of the Adaptation Committee

(Agenda sub-item 8(b))

- 49. At its 1st meeting, the CMA noted that this matter was on the agendas of the SBSTA and the SBI.⁴¹
- 50. At the 4th meeting, the Chairs of the subsidiary bodies reported that consideration of the matter could not be concluded at SB 59.⁴²
- 51. At the 5th meeting, the President informed the CMA that the matter will be included in the provisional agendas for SB 60 (June 2024) in accordance with rule 16 of the draft rules of procedure being applied.

IX. Warsaw International Mechanism for Loss and Damage associated with Climate Change Impacts

(Agenda item 9)

- 52. At its 1st meeting, the CMA noted that this matter was on the agendas of the SBSTA and the SBI.⁴³
- 53. At its 6th meeting, on recommendations of the subsidiary bodies,⁴⁴ the CMA adopted:
- (a) Decision 6/CMA.5, entitled "Santiago network for averting, minimizing and addressing loss and damage associated with the adverse effects of climate change under the Warsaw International Mechanism for Loss and Damage associated with Climate Change Impacts";
- (b) Decision 7/CMA.5, entitled "Report of the Executive Committee of the Warsaw International Mechanism for Loss and Damage associated with Climate Change Impacts".
- 54. A statement was made by representatives of the United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction on behalf of their organization and the United Nations Office for Project Services as the newly appointed co-hosts of the Santiago network for averting, minimizing and addressing loss and damage associated with the adverse effects of climate change. A written statement by the Caribbean Development Bank is available on the submission portal.
- 55. At its 6th meeting, on a proposal by the President, the CMA elected the following members to the Advisory Board of the Santiago network:

SBSTA 59 agenda sub-item 3(b) and SBI 59 agenda sub-item 12(b), "Report of the Adaptation Committee and review of the progress, effectiveness and performance of the Adaptation Committee".

⁴² See documents FCCC/SBSTA/2023/8, para. 16, and FCCC/SBI/2023/21, para. 61.

⁴³ SBSTA 59 agenda item 4 and SBI 59 agenda item 13, "Warsaw International Mechanism for Loss and Damage associated with Climate Change Impacts".

⁴⁴ See documents FCCC/SBSTA/2023/8, para. 18, and FCCC/SBI/2023/21, para. 68.

⁴⁵ The statement can be heard at https://unfccc.int/event/6th-meeting-of-the-cop-6th-meeting-of-the-

https://www4.unfccc.int/sites/submissionsstaging/Pages/Home.aspx (in the search field, type "COP 28/ CMP 18/ CMA 5 closing plenary").

Advisory Board of the Santiago network

African States Alpha Kaloga (Guinea)

Rachid Tahiri (Morocco)

Asia-Pacific States Akio Takemoto (Japan)

Syed Asif Hyder-Shah (Pakistan)

Latin American and Caribbean States Kenel Delusca (Haiti)

Belen Reyes (Uruguay)

Least developed countries Idy Niang (Senegal)

Small island developing States Camila Minerva (Dominican Republic)

56. In addition, on a proposal by the President, the CMA elected the following members to the WIM Executive Committee:

Executive Committee of the Warsaw International Mechanism for Loss and Damage associated with Climate Change Impacts

Non-Annex I Parties Jerome Ilagan (Philippines)

Non-Annex I Parties (African States) Kulthoum Motsumi (Botswana)

Non-Annex I Parties (Asia-Pacific States) Faisal Al Swied (Saudi Arabia)

Non-Annex I Parties (Latin American and Angela Rivera (Colombia)

Caribbean States)

Non-Annex I Parties (Least developed Mohammad Hafijul Islam Khan

countries) (Bangladesh)

Non-Annex I Parties (small island developing Ashley Codner (Jamaica)

States)

X. Matters relating to finance

(Agenda item 10)

A. Matters relating to the Standing Committee on Finance

(Agenda sub-item 10(a))

- 57. At the 1st meeting, the President invited the CMA to consider the report of the SCF.⁴⁷ On a proposal by the President, the CMA agreed to consider matters relating to the SCF in the contact group established under the equally titled COP 28 agenda sub-item 8(b), co-chaired by Apollonia Miola (European Union) and Ali Waqas Malik (Pakistan).
- 58. The CMA noted that the second review of the functions of the SCF was on the agenda of the SBI⁴⁸ and that the CMA would take any action it deems appropriate on the basis of the recommendation of the SBI on that matter.
- 59. At its 6th meeting, on a proposal by the President, the CMA adopted decision 9/CMA.5, entitled "Matters relating to the Standing Committee on Finance".
- 60. The President informed the CMA that the SBI had agreed to continue consideration of the second review of the functions of the SCF at SBI 61 (November 2024).⁴⁹

⁴⁷ FCCC/CP/2023/2- FCCC/PA/CMA/2023/8.

⁴⁸ SBI 59 agenda sub-item 16(b), "Second review of the functions of the Standing Committee on Finance".

⁴⁹ See document FCCC/SBI/2023/21, para. 95.

B. Guidance to the Green Climate Fund

(Agenda sub-item 10(b))

- 61. At the 1st meeting, the President invited the CMA to provide guidance to the Green Climate Fund on policies, programme priorities and eligibility criteria related to the Paris Agreement, to be transmitted by the COP.
- 62. On a proposal by the President, the CMA agreed to consider this matter in the contact group established under COP 28 agenda sub-item 8(c), "Report of the Green Climate Fund to the Conference of the Parties and guidance to the Green Climate Fund", co-chaired by Marine Lannoy (France) and Richard Muyungi (United Republic of Tanzania).
- 63. At its 6th meeting, on a proposal by the President, the CMA adopted decision 10/CMA.5, entitled "Guidance to the Green Climate Fund".

C. Guidance to the Global Environment Facility

(Agenda sub-item 10(c))

- 64. At the 1st meeting, the President invited the CMA to provide guidance to the Global Environment Facility on policies, programme priorities and eligibility criteria related to the Paris Agreement, to be transmitted by the COP.
- 65. On a proposal by the President, the CMA agreed to consider this matter in the contact group established under COP 28 agenda sub-item 8(d), "Report of the Global Environment Facility to the Conference of the Parties and guidance to the Global Environment Facility", co-chaired by Marine Lannoy and Richard Muyungi.
- 66. At its 6th meeting, on a proposal by the President, the CMA adopted decision 11/CMA.5, entitled "Guidance to the Global Environment Facility".

D. Matters relating to the Adaptation Fund

(Agenda sub-item 10(d))

- 67. At the 1st meeting, the President invited the CMA to consider the annual report of the Adaptation Fund Board.⁵⁰
- 68. On a proposal by the President, the CMA agreed to consider matters relating to the Adaptation Fund in the contact group established under the equally titled CMP 18 agenda item 7, co-chaired by Diann Black-Layne (Antigua and Barbuda) and Louise Rousseau (France).
- 69. At its 6th meeting, on a proposal by the President, the CMA adopted decision 12/CMA.5, entitled "Matters relating to the Adaptation Fund".

E. New collective quantified goal on climate finance

(Agenda sub-item 10(e))

- 70. At the 1st meeting, the President invited the CMA to take stock of the progress of and provide further guidance on the ad hoc work programme on the new collective quantified goal on climate finance. He noted that work under this sub-item would include consideration of the summary report⁵¹ of the high-level ministerial dialogue on the new collective quantified goal on climate finance that would take place during the session.
- 71. The President thanked Zaheer Fakir (South Africa) and Fiona Gilbert (Australia) for their leadership as co-chairs of the ad hoc work programme and their work over the past year.⁵²

 $^{^{50}\;\;}FCCC/KP/CMP/2023/2–FCCC/PA/CMA/2023/6$ and Add.1.

⁵¹ FCCC/PA/CMA/2023/INF.1.

⁵² See document FCCC/PA/CMA/2023/11 and Add.1.

- 72. On a proposal by the President, the CMA agreed to establish a contact group on this matter co-chaired by Gabriela Blatter (Switzerland) and Amena Yauvoli (Fiji).
- 73. At its 6th meeting, on a proposal by the President, the CMA adopted decision 8/CMA.5, entitled "New collective quantified goal on climate finance".

F. Compilation and synthesis of, and summary report on the in-session workshop on, biennial communications of information related to Article 9, paragraph 5, of the Paris Agreement

(Agenda sub-item 10(f))

- 74. At the 1st meeting, the President invited the CMA to consider the documents prepared for the session.⁵³ The CMA was invited to consider updating the types of information contained in the annex to decision 12/CMA.1 on the basis of Parties' experience and lessons learned in preparing their biennial communications of indicative quantitative and qualitative information.
- 75. On a proposal by the President, the CMA agreed to consider this matter in the contact group established under the equally titled COP 28 sub-item 10(f), co-chaired by Elena Pereira (Honduras) and Kelly Sharp (Canada).
- 76. The President informed the CMA that a high-level ministerial dialogue on climate finance would be convened during the session, informed by the compilation and synthesis of second biennial communications and the summary report on the second biennial in-session workshop on information to be provided by Parties in accordance with Article 9, paragraph 5, of the Paris Agreement.
- 77. At its 6th meeting, on a proposal by the President, the CMA adopted decision 13/CMA.5, entitled "Compilation and synthesis of, and summary report on the in-session workshop on, biennial communications of information related to Article 9, paragraph 5, of the Paris Agreement".

G. Operationalization of the funding arrangements for responding to loss and damage referred to in paragraph 2, including the fund established in paragraph 3, of decisions 2/CP.27 and 2/CMA.4

(Agenda sub-item 10(g))

- 78. At the 1st meeting, the President informed Parties that the Transitional Committee had engaged in extensive deliberations throughout 2023 and worked diligently on developing recommendations for consideration and adoption by the COP and the CMA.
- 79. Upon invitation by the President, the Co-Chairs of the Transitional Committee, Outi Honkatukia (Finland) and Richard Sherman (South Africa), reported on the work of the Committee.⁵⁴
- 80. On a proposal by the President, the CMA adopted decision 5/CMA.5, entitled "Operationalization of the new funding arrangements, including a fund, for responding to loss and damage referred to in paragraphs 2–3 of decisions 2/CP.27 and 2/CMA.4".55
- 81. The President encouraged Parties to nominate members and alternate members to the Board of the fund referred to in decision 5/CMA.5 during the Conference so that the Board could immediately be operational and serve developing country Parties that are particularly vulnerable to the adverse effects of climate change.

⁵³ FCCC/PA/CMA/2023/2/Rev.1, FCCC/PA/CMA/2023/3 and FCCC/PA/CMA/2023/13.

⁵⁴ The oral report can be heard at https://unfccc-events.azureedge.net/COP28_94190/agenda (starting at 2:17:26).

The President requested the secretariat to update para. 14 of decision 5/CMA.5 to reflect any offers made during the Conference to contribute to the fund referred to in that decision. The President also requested the secretariat to make available on the UNFCCC website all offers to contribute to the fund as they are made.

- 82. The President recommended that, once operational, the Board take up the matter of naming the fund referred to in decision 5/CMA.5.
- 83. Statements were made by representatives of seven Parties. 56, 57

XI. Development and transfer of technologies and implementation of the Technology Mechanism: joint annual report of the Technology Executive Committee and the Climate Technology Centre and Network

(Agenda item 11)

- 84. At its 1st meeting, the CMA noted that this matter was on the agendas of the SBSTA and the SBI.⁵⁸
- 85. At its 5th meeting, on a recommendation of the subsidiary bodies,⁵⁹ the CMA adopted decision 14/CMA.5, entitled "Enhancing climate technology development and transfer to support implementation of the Paris Agreement".

XII. Capacity-building under the Paris Agreement

(Agenda item 12)

- 86. At its 1st meeting, the CMA noted that this matter was on the agenda of the SBI.⁶⁰
- 87. At its 5th meeting, on a recommendation of the SBI,⁶¹ the CMA adopted decision 15/CMA.5, entitled "Annual technical progress report of the Paris Committee on Capacity-building for 2023".
- 88. In addition, on a recommendation of the COP,⁶² the CMA adopted decision 16/CMA.5, entitled "Terms of reference for the second review of the Paris Committee on Capacity-building".

XIII. Report of the forum on the impact of the implementation of response measures

(Agenda item 13)

- 89. At its 1st meeting, the CMA noted that this matter was on the agendas of the SBSTA and the SBL⁶³
- 90. At its 4th meeting, the President recalled that the subsidiary bodies had forwarded this matter to the CMA for further consideration.⁶⁴ The CMA agreed to further consider this

The United States of America requested that its statement, available at https://unfccc-events.azureedge.net/COP28_94190/agenda (starting at 2:38:24), be reflected in the report on the session.

Türkiye requested that its statement, available at https://unfccc-events.azureedge.net/COP28_94190/agenda (starting at 2:46:30), be reflected in the report on the session.

⁵⁸ SBSTA 59 agenda item 11 and SBI 59 agenda item 15, "Development and transfer of technologies and implementation of the Technology Mechanism: joint annual report of the Technology Executive Committee and the Climate Technology Centre and Network".

⁵⁹ See documents FCCC/SBSTA/2023/8, para. 47, and FCCC/SBI/2023/21, para. 91.

⁶⁰ SBI 59 agenda item 17, "Matters relating to capacity-building".

⁶¹ See document FCCC/SBI/2023/21, para. 96.

⁶² See document FCCC/CP/2023/11, para. 110.

⁶³ SBSTA 59 agenda item 9 and SBI 59 agenda item 10, "Matters relating to the forum on the impact of the implementation of response measures serving the Convention, the Kyoto Protocol and the Paris Agreement".

⁶⁴ See documents FCCC/SBSTA/2023/8, para. 43, and FCCC/SBI/2023/21, para. 53.

matter. The President requested Georg Børsting (Norway) and Andrei Marcu (Honduras) to undertake consultations on his behalf.

91. At its 6th meeting, on a proposal by the President, the CMA adopted decision 19/CMA.5, entitled "Review of the functions, work programme and modalities of the forum on the impact of the implementation of response measures, midterm review of the workplan and report of the forum".

XIV. Matters relating to Article 6 of the Paris Agreement

(Agenda item 14)

A. Guidance on cooperative approaches referred to in Article 6, paragraph 2, of the Paris Agreement and in decision 2/CMA.3

(Agenda sub-item 14(a))

- 92. At its 1st meeting, the CMA noted that this matter was on the agenda of the SBSTA.⁶⁵
- 93. At its 4th meeting, the President recalled that the SBSTA had forwarded this matter to the CMA for further consideration.⁶⁶ The CMA agreed to further consider this matter. The President requested the co-facilitators of the deliberations on this matter under the SBSTA, Maria Al Jishi (Saudi Arabia) and Peer Stiansen (Norway), to undertake consultations on his behalf.
- 94. At the 6th meeting, the President informed the CMA that consideration of this matter could not be concluded at this session. On a proposal by the President, the CMA requested the SBSTA to continue consideration of relevant matters mandated in decision 6/CMA.4 at SBSTA 60 (June 2024) with a view to recommending a draft decision for consideration and adoption at CMA 6 (November 2024).

B. Rules, modalities and procedures for the mechanism established by Article 6, paragraph 4, of the Paris Agreement and referred to in decision 3/CMA.3

(Agenda sub-item 14(b))

- 95. At its 1st meeting, the CMA noted that this matter was on the agenda of the SBSTA.67
- 96. At its 4th meeting, the President recalled that the SBSTA had forwarded this matter to the CMA for further consideration.⁶⁸ The CMA agreed to further consider this matter. The President requested the co-facilitators of the deliberations on this matter under the SBSTA, Kate Hancock (Australia) and Sonam Tashi (Bhutan), to undertake consultations on his behalf.
- 97. At the 6th meeting, the President informed the CMA that consideration of this matter could not be concluded at this session. On a proposal by the President, the CMA requested the SBSTA to continue consideration of relevant matters mandated in decision 7/CMA.4 at SBSTA 60 with a view to recommending a draft decision for consideration and adoption at CMA 6.
- 98. Further, on a proposal by the President, the CMA requested the Supervisory Body for the mechanism established by Article 6, paragraph 4, of the Paris Agreement to continue the relevant work to operationalize the mechanism with a view to elaborating and further developing recommendations for consideration and adoption at CMA 6.

-

⁶⁵ SBSTA 59 agenda sub-item 13(a), "Guidance on cooperative approaches referred to in Article 6, paragraph 2, of the Paris Agreement and in decision 2/CMA.3".

⁶⁶ See document FCCC/SBSTA/2023/8, para. 54.

⁶⁷ SBSTA 59 agenda sub-item 13(b), "Rules, modalities and procedures for the mechanism established by Article 6, paragraph 4, of the Paris Agreement and referred to in decision 3/CMA.3".

⁶⁸ See document FCCC/SBSTA/2023/8, para. 56.

99. In addition, on a proposal by the President, the CMA elected the following members to the Supervisory Body:

	Supervisory Body	
	Member	Alternate
African States	El Hadji Mbaye Diagne (Senegal)	Tirivanhu Muhwati (Zimbabwe)
Asia-Pacific States	Maria AlJishi (Saudi Arabia)	Maosheng Duan (China)
Small island developing States	Benedict Chia (Singapore)	Kristin Qui (Trinidad and Tobago)

C. Work programme under the framework for non-market approaches referred to in Article 6, paragraph 8, of the Paris Agreement and in decision 4/CMA.3

(Agenda sub-item 14(c))

- 100. At its 1st meeting, the CMA noted that this matter was on the agenda of the SBSTA.69
- 101. At its 4th meeting, the President recalled that the SBSTA had forwarded this matter to the CMA for further consideration.⁷⁰ The CMA agreed to further consider this matter. The President requested the co-chairs of the deliberations on this matter under the SBSTA, Kristin Qui (Trinidad and Tobago) and Jacqui Ruesga (New Zealand), to undertake consultations on his behalf.
- 102. At its 6th meeting, on a proposal by the President, the CMA adopted decision 17/CMA.5, entitled "Work programme under the framework for non-market approaches referred to in Article 6, paragraph 8, of the Paris Agreement and in decision 4/CMA.3".

XV. Report of the committee to facilitate implementation and promote compliance referred to in Article 15, paragraph 2, of the Paris Agreement

(Agenda item 15)

- 103. At the 1st meeting, the President thanked Haseeb Gohar (Pakistan) and Christina Voigt (Norway), Co-Chairs of the Paris Agreement Implementation and Compliance Committee, for their leadership, and the members and alternate members of the Committee for their hard work.
- 104. The President invited the CMA to take note of the information contained in the annual report of the Paris Agreement Implementation and Compliance Committee,⁷¹ including the recommendation that, with respect to paragraph 2 of decision 20/CMA.1, the CMA undertake the first review of the Committee's modalities and procedures in 2024.

XVI. Administrative, financial and institutional matters

(Agenda item 16)

- 105. At its 1st meeting, the CMA noted that these matters were on the agenda of the SBI.72
- 106. At its 5th meeting, on a proposal by the President, the CMA endorsed the following decisions of the COP:

⁶⁹ SBSTA 59 agenda sub-item 13(c), "Work programme under the framework for non-market approaches referred to in Article 6, paragraph 8, of the Paris Agreement and in decision 4/CMA.3".

⁷⁰ See document FCCC/SBSTA/2023/8, para. 63.

⁷¹ FCCC/PA/CMA/2023/4.

⁷² SBI 59 agenda item 20, "Administrative, financial and institutional matters".

- (a) Decision 18/CP.28, entitled "Administrative, financial and institutional matters";⁷³
- (b) Decision 19/CP.28, entitled "Administrative, financial and institutional matters", 74 covering, inter alia, the programme budget for the biennium 2024–2025.

XVII. High-level segment

(Agenda item 17)75

XVIII. Other matters

(Agenda item 18)

- 107. At the 6th meeting, the President reported to the CMA on the outcomes of and any other issues raised at the consultations referred to in paragraph 13(a) above on the way forward regarding the proposal from Zambia on behalf of the African Group concerning the "special needs and special circumstances of Africa",⁷⁶ as follows:
- (a) Parties acknowledged that the Convention and the Paris Agreement recognize the urgent and immediate needs of developing countries particularly vulnerable to the adverse effects of climate change, including Africa;
- (b) It was suggested to use existing spaces to discuss wider regional needs and general matters related to the special circumstances of developing countries at the regional level:
- (c) Despite the constructive engagement of all Parties, there was no consensus on the original proposal.

XIX. Conclusion of the session

(Agenda item 19)

A. Adoption of the draft report on the session

(Agenda sub-item 19(a))

- 108. At its 6th meeting, the CMA considered the draft report on the session⁷⁷ and, on a proposal by the President, authorized the Rapporteur to complete the report on the session under the guidance of the President and with the assistance of the secretariat.
- 109. The secretariat informed the CMA that the decisions it adopted under some agenda items have financial and human resource implications beyond the provisions included in the budget for the biennium 2024–2025, noting that funding estimates and categorization of activities are preliminary and based on the information available at the time. Unless otherwise specified, all activities under the following items are categorized as temporary or short term:⁷⁸
- (a) Under agenda sub-item 2(c), "Organization of work, including for the sessions of the subsidiary bodies", EUR 2.29 million will be required to support the work of the Presidency youth climate champions in 2024–2025, of which EUR 308,000 is to be covered from existing resources. This activity is categorized as recurring or long term;
- (b) Under agenda item 4, "First global stocktake", at least EUR 4.30 million will be required in 2024–2025 to hold dialogues and prepare reports. The budgetary implications

⁷³ See document FCCC/CP/2023/11, para. 120(a).

⁷⁴ See document FCCC/CP/2023/11, para. 120(b).

⁷⁵ See document FCCC/CP/2023/11, paras. 123–128.

⁷⁶ See document FCCC/CP/2023/11, para. 9(a).

⁷⁷ FCCC/PA/CMA/2023/L.3.

Nee document FCCC/SBI/2023/2, paras. 26–27, for information on the categorization of activities for the purpose of the UNFCCC budget.

of implementing decision 1/CMA.5 are very uncertain at this time; the secretariat will carefully study them and update the estimate accordingly, including how much can be covered from existing resources;

- (c) Under agenda item 5, "Work programme on just transition pathways referred to in the relevant paragraphs of decision 1/CMA.4", EUR 1.57 million will be required in 2024 to hold at least two dialogues prior to the regular sessions of the subsidiary bodies and prepare an annual report on the dialogues and an annual report on the activities under the work programme;
- (d) Under agenda item 6, "Sharm el-Sheikh mitigation ambition and implementation work programme referred to in decision 4/CMA.4", EUR 1.31 million will be required in 2024–2025 to organize and report on global dialogues and investment-focused events;
- (e) Under agenda item 7, "Reporting and review pursuant to Article 13 of the Paris Agreement: provision of financial and technical support to developing country Parties for reporting and capacity-building", EUR 175,000 will be required in 2024–2025 to:
 - (i) Hold regional online workshops prior to SB 60 and an in-person workshop at SB 60 on support available to developing country Parties for preparing their biennial transparency reports, and on enhancing sustainable institutional capacity and national reporting systems within their Governments for implementing the enhanced transparency framework and providing guidance on the application process for transparency-related projects;
 - (ii) Convene an in-session facilitative dialogue at SB 60 to facilitate the sharing of experience in gathering, analysing and managing data, in particular by developed country Parties, that may be helpful for developing country Parties in enhancing their institutional capacity and national reporting systems for implementing the enhanced transparency framework and prepare a summary report on the lessons learned and best practices shared at the facilitative dialogue by no later than 31 October 2024;
 - (iii) Receive submissions from Parties via the submission portal⁷⁹ by 31 March 2025 on their experience and challenges related to implementing Article 13 of the Paris Agreement, including in relation to establishing or enhancing their institutional capacity and national reporting systems;
 - (iv) Prepare a synthesis report prior to SB 62 (June 2025) reflecting information on progress, best practices and remaining challenges contained in the submissions referred to in paragraph 109(e)(iii) above, and information reported in developing country Parties' first biennial transparency reports, as applicable;
 - (v) Convene an in-session facilitative dialogue at SB 62 to discuss the synthesis report referred to in paragraph 109(e)(iv) above;
- (f) Under agenda sub-item 8(a), "Glasgow–Sharm el-Sheikh work programme on the global goal on adaptation referred to in decision 7/CMA.3", EUR 1.78 million will be required in 2024-2025 to:
 - (i) Launch the two-year United Arab Emirates-Belém work programme;
 - (ii) Organize a workshop on indicators for measuring progress towards targets;
 - (iii) Undertake technical work in support of the United Arab Emirates Framework for Global Climate Resilience and the United Arab Emirates–Belém work programme;
- (g) Under agenda item 9, "Warsaw International Mechanism for Loss and Damage associated with Climate Change Impacts", EUR 235,000 will be required in 2024, to be absorbed from existing resources, to facilitate the development of draft guidelines on preventing conflicts of interest in relation to the Santiago network, the translation of knowledge products and the organization of events;

⁷⁹ https://www4.unfccc.int/sites/submissionsstaging/Pages/Home.aspx.

- (h) Under agenda sub-item 10(b), "Matters relating to the Standing Committee on Finance", EUR 3.66 million will be required in 2024–2025 to support further work related to Article 2, paragraph 1(c), of the Paris Agreement;
- (i) Under agenda sub-item 10(g), "Operationalization of the funding arrangements for responding to loss and damage referred to in paragraph 2, including the fund referred to in paragraph 3, of decisions 2/CP.27 and 2/CMA.4", EUR 3.15 million will be required in 2024 to support the interim secretariat of the fund referred to in decision 5/CMA.5, consisting of the UNFCCC secretariat, the United Nations Development Programme and the secretariat of the Green Climate Fund, in organizing meetings of the Board of that fund and developing and implementing the workplan of the Board until the secretariat of the fund is operational. The budget of the interim secretariat is expected to be sourced from financing to be made available for operationalizing the fund, with no additional contributions required;
- (j) Under agenda item 11, "Development and transfer of technologies and implementation of the Technology Mechanism: joint annual report of the Technology Executive Committee and the Climate Technology Centre and Network", EUR 60,000⁸⁰ will be required in 2024 to prepare a technical paper on artificial intelligence for climate action in developing countries;
- (k) Under agenda item 12, "Capacity-building under the Convention", EUR 27,000 will be required in 2024 to prepare a synthesis report on the submissions of views on the second review of the Paris Committee on Capacity-building;
- (l) Under agenda item 13, "Report of the forum on the impact of the implementation of response measures", EUR 1.16 million will be required in 2024–2025 for the preparation by the Katowice Committee of Experts on the Impacts of the Implementation of Response Measures of several knowledge products and the organization by its forum of various events and dialogues. This includes activities that are categorized as recurring or long term, and temporary or short term;
- (m) Under agenda sub-item 14(c), "Work programme under the framework for non-market approaches referred to in Article 6, paragraph 8, of the Paris Agreement and in decision 4/CMA.3", EUR 80,000 will be required in 2024 to develop a manual on the UNFCCC web-based platform for non-market approaches and prepare a synthesis report on submissions and a workshop report.

B. Closure of the session

(Agenda sub-item 19(b))

- 110. At its 6th meeting, on a proposal by a Party, the CMA adopted resolution 1/CMA.5, entitled "Expression of gratitude to the Government of the United Arab Emirates".
- 111. At the same meeting and at the joint 7th meeting of COP 28, CMP 18 and CMA 5, on 13 December, representatives of Parties, groups of Parties and observer organizations made closing statements.⁸¹
- 112. Also at the joint 7th meeting, the President expressed gratitude to Parties for their hard work during the session and mentioned the adoption of the United Arab Emirates Consensus as a basis for taking transformational action to address climate change.
- 113. The President then declared CMA 5 closed.

⁸⁰ The figure provided during the sessions has been amended to correct a technical error.

⁸¹ See document FCCC/CP/2023/11, paras. 134–136.